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BEFORE: F. PHILIP CARBULLIDO, Chief Justice; FRANCES M. TYDINGCO-GATEWOQOD,
Associate Justice; RICHARD H. BENSON, Justice Pro Tempore.

CARBULLIDO, CJ.:

[1] The court’ sOpinioninthis matter, 2003 Guam 15, wasfiled on July 9, 2003. Defendant-Appellant
YoungHalLee (“Leg") filed aPetitionfor Rehearing on July 23, 2003. Plantiff-AppeleeMobil Oil Guam,
Inc. (*Mohil”) filed a Petitionfor Rehearing on July 23, 2003. Lee' sPetitionfor Rehearing was denied by
this court onNovember 19, 2003. After consdering Lee' s Answer to Mobil’ s Petition for Rehearing, we
hereby grant Mobil’ s Petition, vacate our Opinion, 2003 Guam 15, and issue this Opinion.

[2] This case arises out of Lee' s dleged breach of a Petroleum Marketing Practices Act (“PMPA”)
Motor FudsFranchiseAgreement (* Franchise Agreement”). On Mobil’ sMotion for Summary Judgment,
the trid court hed that Lee breached the Franchise Agreement and that Mobil’s termination of the
Franchise Agreement did not violaethe provisions of the PMPA. We &firm the decision of the triad court.

I

[3] OnSeptember 1, 1998, Mohil and L ee executed a PM PA FranchiseAgreement, whereinLeewas
granted the right to use and occupy the Mangilao Mobil Station in connection with the sdle and digtribution
of Mobil brand fudsfor aperiod of dght years. In return for the franchiserights, Lee provided Mohbil with
a$260,000 non-refundable conversionfee, a$30,000 security deposit, and an authorizationto make direct
debit draws on Lee' s First Hawaiian Bank (“FHB") business banking account.

[4] For twelve months, L eeoperated his service station and received monthly account statementsfrom
Mohbil, which indicated that Mobil was being paid timely for itsfuel sdes. However, Le€ scredit posture
changed after Lee swifetriggered aninvestigationinto their account whenshe inquired about the possibility
that Mobil was double charging on some invoices. The investigation led to the discovery that some of
Mohil’s direct debit drawsfromLee' s FHB account were returned for non-sufficient funds, which meant
that Mobil’s monthly account statements did not reconcile with the parties respective monthly bank
Satements.
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[5] Inaletter dated September 16, 1999, Serge Alves, aMobil employee, informed Lee swife of the
problem. On October 4, 1999, Leo A. Manlapaz (“Manlgpaz”), Mobil Fuels Manager, contacted Lee
for a medting, in which Lee was “provided a listing of dl the returned direct debits amounting to
$270,198.60” (“NSF Lig") and was informed that his account would be switched to cash on ddivery
basis. When Leewas asked to review and verify each item on the NSF Li, Lee could not reedily do so
and “clamed that he had no prior knowledge of the returned direct debits and it was his wife who was
handling dl bank deposits.” Appellant’s Excerpts of Record, vol. I, p. 239 (Manlapaz’ Decl.). On
October 20, 1999, after several failed attempts to follow-up on the status of Lee's review of theliding,
Manlapaz cdled Lee, wherein*[Lee] confirmed the accuracy of the NSF liging that was provided to him”
and “ promised to submit awritten payment planby October 21, 1999.” Appellant’s Excerpts of Record,
vol. II, p. 240 (Manlapaz’ Decl.).

[6] Lee did not submit a payment plan by his self-imposed deadline of October 21, 1999. Instead,
on November 1, 1999, Lee persondly delivered aletter to Manlapaz, which apologized for the overdue
payments. The letter so contained a proposed payment plan, wherein Leewould “ pay at least $50,000
withinthe next 2 weeks.” Appdlant’s Excerpts of Record, val. 11, p. 354 (Lee'sLtr.). OnNovember 8,
1999, Mohil informed Lee that his proposed payment plan outlined in his November 1, 1999 |etter was
“unacceptable asit [did] not meet Mobil’ s requirements on the timdiness of the full payment of [Lee' s
delinquent account.” Appe lant’ sExcerptsof Record, val. I1, p. 355 (Manlapaz' Ltr.). Mobil asowarned
Lee that the overdue payments “congtitute[d] a serious violation of Article 11(C) of [the] Franchise
Agreement.” Excerpts of Record, vol. I1, p. 355 (Manlapaz’ Ltr.).

[7] On November 26, 1999, Mohil again reminded L ee of his continued violation of Article [1(C) of
the Franchise Agreement. Mobil further notified Lee that in order to cure his default, he would have to
make a $155,000.00 payment by the end of November 1999 and pay the remainingbal ance by December
31, 1999. Inresponseto Mobil’sdemand, onNovember 29, 1999, L ee’ sattorney informed Mohil of the
difficulty inmaking the $155,000 payment withinfour days. Theattorney further expressedthat, “Mr. Lee,
of course, will make the payments, and he does not dispute the debt at thistime, but he does need some
additiond time in which to make this overdue payment.” Appellant’s Excerpts of Record, val. 11, p. 358
(Teker'sLtr.).
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[8] Inlight of Lee' s request for additiona time to make the payments, on December 1, 1999, Mobil
informed L ee that the $155,000.00 payment deadline would be extended to December 9, 1999. Leedid
not meet the December 9 deadline. On December 15, 1999, Mobil sent Leea“Find Waning” |etter that
again reminded Lee of his continued default. Three days later, on December 18, 1999, Lee outlined
another proposed payment plan.

[9] On December 22, 1999, Mohil formaly declined L e€’ slatest proposed payment planand counter-
offered withanother plan. Under the plan, Lee wasto sign a promissory note and agree to pay $50,000
per month with interest at 15% per annum. The promissory note was to be secured by a mortgage on
some of Lee’ sproperty. Mohil noted that Lee s acceptance of the plan would be evidenced by either first
payment of the $50,000 by December 28, 1999 or the findizationof certain documents (such as gppraisa
papers) inpreparationfor the execution of the promissory note. Leefalled to accept Mobil’ spayment plan,
and on December 29, 1999, Mobil sent Lee a“Notice of Termination” letter (“December 29th Notice of
Terminaion”), whichnatified L ee that the Franchise Agreement would be terminated on January 16, 2000.
[10] OnJanuary 13, 2000, Le€ sattorneyinformed Mobil that Lee was able to sdl one of his properties
and therefore, “[would] be adle to deliver a check in the amount of Eighty Thousand Dollars’ to Mohil,
which was to be applied on the outstanding account. Appellant’s Excerpts of Record, val. I, p. 162
(Teker’sLtr.). The letter dso noted other propertiesthat Leewastryingto sdl and requested “that Mohil
continue its practice of withholding” $9,000.00t0$10,000.00 monthly fromLe€’ s* customers credit card
chargesto apply onthe outstandingindebtedness.” Appellant’ sExcerptsof Record, val. I, p. 162 (Teker's
Ltr.).

[11] DespiteLee s offer, on January 16, 2000, Mobil effectively terminated the Franchise Agreement
and took control of the Mangilao Mobil Station. On January 26, 2000, Mobil informed L eg’ sattorney that
Lee s offer (expressed during counsels' telephone conversation on January 24, 2000) of a $100,000.00
check payment and an execution of a promissory note “for the balance due providing for $10,000.00
monthly payments until this account is paid in full” wasrgjected. Appelant’s Excerpts of Record, vol. |,
p. 167 (Johnson’sLtr.). Theletter aso outlined Lee sbaance of $199,463.22 after Mobil subtracted the
vaue of the gation’ sinventory.
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[12] OnMarch20,2000, Mobil filed aComplaint inthe Superior Court, aleging breach of contract and
praying for Lee' spayment of $192,465.72. On April 24, 2000, Lee filed an Answer and a Counterclam
dleging that Mohil’ s termination and termination notice violated the provisons of the PMPA.

[13] Onduly 20, 2000, Mohil sent Leea* Supplementa Notice of Termination.” Appellant’ sExcerpts
of Record, val. I, p. 380 (Glath'sLtr.). Although “Mohil maintain[ed] that the notice of termination was
auffident as a matter of law and that termination of your franchise, Franchise Agreement and franchise
relationship was legd and proper as January 16, 2000,” the supplemental notice provided that if “the
Superior Court of Guam. . . determinesthat you were entitled to alonger notice period thanwas provided
by Mohil’s December 29, 1999 notice of termination, this letter shdl serve as a supplementd notice of
termination.” Appelant’s Excerpts of Record, val. 11, p. 380 (Glath’s Ltr.).

[14] On November 16, 2000, Mohil filed a motion for partial summary judgment arguing that Lee
breached the contract, and, that M ohil’ sterminationof the Franchise Agreement and notice of termination
did not violate the provisions of the PMPA.

[15] On December 4, 2001, the trid court issued a decison and order granting partiad summary
judgment and holding that Lee breached the Franchise Agreement and that Mobil complied with the
PMPA. Appelant’s Excerpts of Record, val. I, p. 51 (Decision and Order). However, the trid court
found that there was a factual questionregarding “the amount due inexcess of $164,922.51.” Appdlant’'s
Excerptsof Record, val. I, p. 47 (Decisonand Order). Thetrid court so dismissed Lee scounter-clam
“for attorney feesand exemplary damages.” Appellant’s Excerpts of Record, val. I, p. 51 (Decision and
Order). Lee appealed.

.
[16] Thiscourt hasjurisdictionover this gpped from afind judgment pursuant to Title 7 GCA 883107
(asamended by P.L. No. 27-31, Oct. 31, 2003) , 3108(a) (1994).
[17] Wereview thetria court’sgrant of asummary judgment de novo. See Amsden v. Yamon, 1999
Guam 14, 1 7 (citations omitted). Summary judgment isproper “if the pleadings, depositions, answersto
interrogatories, and admissons onfile, together withthe affidavits, if any, show that thereis no genuine issue
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as to any materid fact and that the moving party isentitled to ajudgment asamatter of law.” GuamR. Civ.
P. 56(c); Amsden, 1999 Guam14 at 7. We smilarly review contract condruction de novo. Brown v.
Dillingham Const. Pacific Basin Ltd., 2003 Guam 2 , 6. “In interpreting a contract, the language
governsif clear and explicit and not involving absurdity.” Ronquillov. Korea Auto., Fire, & Marinelns.
Co., 2001 Guam 25, 10 (citing Title 18 GCA § 87104 (1992)). “Issues of statutory construction and
juridiction are [dso] reviewed de novo.” Taijeron v. Kim, 1999 Guam 16, 1 9 (ating People v.

Quichocho, 1997 Guam 13, 1 3).

[11.
[18] On appeal, Lee assertsthat thetrid court erred in granting Mobil’s summary judgment motion on
the issues of whether he breached the Franchise Agreement, and whether Mobil’ s termination of the
Franchise Agreement and notice of the termination complied with the provisons of the PMPA.
A. Breach of the Franchise Agreement
[19] Leeaversthreefactud issuesto support his contentionthat thetria court erred ingranting summary
judgment on the breach of contract issue: (1) non-delivery of fud, (2) amount of damages, and, (3)
equitable estoppd.
1. Non-Delivery of Fuel
[20] Leefirg arguesthat “there areissues of materia fact indispute of whether good[ s] for whichMobil
is seeking payment were actudly ddivered.” Appelant’'s Opening Brief, p. 11.  Although Lee correctly
maintains that “ evidenceraiqing] adisputed issue of materid fact asto whether the goods. . . were actudly
ddivered” forecloses summary judgment, Mountain Bound, Inc. v. Alliant FoodService, Inc., 530 SE.
2d 272, 274 (Ga. Ct. App. 2000) (citation omitted), Lee has not proffered any materia evidence that
disputes Mobil’ s actud ddivery of the fuels.
[21] The gravamen of Lee's dlegation of non-ddivery of fud is that the documents accompanying
Mobil’sNSF Lig are computer-generated and contain no sgnaturesto prove rece pt of the deliveries. We
find Lee's dlegation unpersuasive. The NSF List contains twelve entries, denoting the dates and the
amounts of the returned direct debits from Lee' saccount. Accompanying the NSF List were sets of the
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following documents. (1) summary statements, which contain various invoice numbers to account for the
direct debit entries that were dlegedly returned for non-sufficient funds (Appellant’ s Excerpts of Record,
val. I1, pp. 317, 323-324, 333, 336, 338, 340, 341, 344, 346, 348, 350, 352), and, (2) the duplicate
sdes invoices, which match the invoice numbers noted on the summary statement (Appe lant’ s Excerpts
of Record, vol. I, pp. 318-322, 325-332, 334, 337-339, 342-343, 345, 347, 349, 351, 353). While
we agree with Lee' s observation that the summary statements were most likely computer-generated and
printed around November as noted on the bottom of each summary statement, we disagree with Lee's
contentionthat the salesinvoicesare not vaid duplicates of the origind invoices. Each of the sdlesinvoices
contains various order numbers and is dated from September 29, 1998 through June 3, 1999. UnlessLee
“submit[] evidentiary facts or materids, by affidavit or otherwise” to chdlenge the vdidity of the duplicate
sdesinvoices, Leeis unable to support his assertion that Mohbil did not make actud delivery of the items
it damsit did. See Tobron Office Furniture Corp. v. King World Prods., Inc.,555N.Y.S.2d 315, 316
(N.Y. App. Div. 1990) (citations omitted).

[22] Moreover, wefind especidly sgnificant the fact that Lee's own “review[] [of] the documentation
relative to the deliveries of fue Mobil damsit ddivered to the Mangilao Mobil gas saionduring the time
a issue’ (in preparation for trid) resulted in the discovery of only three chdlenged invoices that are not
dispogtive inthisappeal. Appellant’ sExcerptsof Record, val. I, pp. 62-64 (Lee sDecl.). Consequently,
because Lee has not produced evidence chalenging the invoices that are part of the apped, Le€'s
conclusory assertions that Mobil did not make the actual ddliveriesof fud are insuffident to defeat summary
judgment. See Hartz Mountain Corp. v. Allou Distribs., Inc., 570 N.Y.S.2d 66, 67 (N.Y. App. Div.
1991); Tobron Office Furniture Corp., 555 N.Y.S.2d at 316 (noting that “[t]he falure to sufficently
demondtrate amateria issue of fact requiring trid entitles plaintiff to an expedited determinationof itsdaim
for payment as to that merchandise actudly delivered.”).

2. Total Amount of Damages

[23] Lee next chdlenges the trid court’s granting of summary judgment in light of his own expert's
inability to determine the exact amount of damages. Lee s chalenge is grounded upon the declaration of
Roger Sater (“Sater”), a Certified Public Accountant, who was hired by Lee “to review documents and
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financid records pertaining to thiscase.” Appellant’ s Excerpts of Record, val. I, p. 169 (Sater’ s Decl.).
With regard to the determination of the total outstanding amount owed, Sater made the following
conduson:

In reviewing the monthly Statements of Account, and the invoices and other paperwork

supplied by Mohil I amunable to determine for the proper balance of Mr. Lee' s account,

because various documentation supporting numerous charges and credits to Mr. Lee's

account was not supplied.
Appdlant’s Excerpts of Record, val. 11, p. 174 (Sater' s Decl.). Wefind Lee' s solicitation of an expert,
whose only real conclusionisthat he was unable to determine the amount that L ee owes because of missng
documents, especidly unpersuasive since Lee was respongble for mantaining current, complete and
accuratebusinessrecords under the Franchise Agreement.! Aswediscussed above, notwithstandingLeg's
chdlenge to the threeinvoices, Lee hasnot averred materiad evidence disputing the rest of the invoices, and
therefore, the total damagesthat Mobil claimsthat Lee owes. See Tobron Office Furniture Corp., 555
N.Y.S.2d at 316.

a. Equitable Estoppe

[24] Leg'slast challenge with respect to the breach of contract issue is whether equitable estoppd is
applicable in this case. “Equitable estoppel is defined as [t]he doctrine by which a person may be
precluded by his act or conduct, or slence when it is his duty to speak, from asserting a right which he
would otherwise have had.” Heskettv. Paulig, 722 N.E.2d 142, 145-146 (Ohio Ct. App. 1999) (citation
and interna quotation marks omitted); see Hodgkinsv. New England Tel. Co., 82 F.3d 1226, 1232 (1t
Cir. 1996). “Thedoctrine. . . isdesigned to prevent amiscarriage of justice’ and “isto beused cautiously
because it bars the norma assertion of rights otherwise present.” Prof’| Credit Servs. of New Orleans
v. Skipper, 543 So.2d 498, 499-500 (La. Ct. App. 1989) (emphasis added). “Unlike promissory
estoppel, equitable estoppel is available only asa‘shidd or defense” Estate of Hall v. HAPO Fed.
Credit Union, 869 P.2d 116, 118 (Wash. Ct. App. 1994) (citations omitted). Guam has codified the

1 pursuant to Article IV, paragraph C, section 10 of the Franchise Agreement, the Deder is obligated to maintain
current, complete and accurate business records, including all records referred to in Article VII, Paragraph A, and make
such records available to Mobil for inspection during normal business hours at Mobil’s request. Mobil shall not disclose
any such records or the contents thereof to any other party unless required by law to do so.

Appellant’s Excerpts of Record, val. I, p. 14 (Franchise Agreement).
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doctrine of equitable estoppel in Title 6 GCA 85106(3), which provides:

Specificationof Condusive Presumptions. Thefollowing presumptions, and no others, are
deemed conclusive:

3 Whenever a party has, by his own declaration, act or
omisson, intentionaly and deliberately led another to
believe aparticular thing true, and to act upon such belief,
he cannot, inany litigation arisng out of suchdeclaration,
act or omisson be permitted to falsfy it;
Title 6 GCA 85106(3) (1994). Leecorrectly notesthat Guam'’ s equitable estoppel doctrine was adopted
from the Cdifornia Civil Procedure law (CCP 8 1962). Case law applying the doctrine has set forth four
elements that must be proven in an equitable estoppe andysis:
@ the party to be estopped must be apprised of the facts;
2 he must intend that his conduct will be acted upon, or act insuchamanner
that the party asserting the estoppel could reasonably believe that he
intended his conduct to be acted upon,

3 the party asserting the estoppel must be ignorant of the true state of the
facts, and

4 he must rely upon the conduct to hisinjury.

Crestline Mobile Homes Mfg. Co. v. Pac. Fin. Corp., 356 P.2d 192, 195-196 (Cal. 1960); Mariano
v. Guam Civil Service Comm'n Bd., D.C. Civ. App. No. 810052A, 1983 WL 30227 * 1 (D. Guam
App. Div. une 20, 1983); Safway Steel Prods. v. Lefever, 256 P.2d 32, 33 (Cd. Ct. App. 1953).2
Moreover, because the doctrine is an affirmative defense, “the party relying uponthe doctrine of equitable
estoppd,” which in thiscaseis Lee, has the burden to “prove the existence of the four required eements
essentid to its gpplication.” See Crestline Mobile Homes, 356 P.2d at 195-96.

[25] Inthecaseat bar, Leearguesthat Mobil isequitably estopped from demanding payment onLee's
outstanding balance because Mobil sent him monthly account statements, which provided that he was
meking timdy statements, notwithstanding his receipt of FHB’ s monthly statements that apprised him that
hisdirect debitswerebeing returned. Wefind that Lee’ sequitable estoppd argument failsfor two reasons.
Firgt, with regards to the first and second elements in an equitable estoppd analys's, the record does not

2 Because Guam's equitable estoppdl statute was derived from Californialaw, case law from that stateis
persuasive. See O’ Mara v. Hechanova, 2001 Guam 13, 18 n.1. District Court of Guam Appellate Division opinions
are also persuasive. Peoplev. Quenga, 1997 Guam 6, 113 n.4.
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establish that Mohbil, an internationd conglomerate, was intentionaly mideading one of its franchisees by
sending him account statements that did not include information on the returned direct debits. Mobil

explained that theerror was caused by Mobil’ sinterna accounting system, which*wasnot * directly linked

withinformationgenerated by its' direct debit sysem’ and informetion provided by the statementsfurnished
Mobil by the Bank of Guam relating to Mohil’ s account with the Bank of Guam.” Appellant’s Excerpts
of Record, val. II, p. 170 (Sater’ sDecl.); see Appe lant’ sExcerptsof Record, val. 11, p. 239 (Manlapaz

Decl.) (expressing “Mohil acknowledges that it did not catch numerous returned items until the fall of
1999.”). However, once Mohil was made aware of the problem, it immediately notified Lee.

[26] Second, assuming arguendo that Lee successfully demonstrates that Mobil was aware of the
returned direct debits and nonetheless sent L ee the inaccurate monthly account statements, Lee remans
unable to prove dl of the requidte dementsin an equitable estoppe defense. Lee mugt Hill establish that
hewas“ignorant of the true state of the facts’ and wastherefore, aninnocent party. See Scottsbluff Nat'l.
Bank v. Blue J Feeds, Inc., 54 N.W.2d 392, 401 (Neb. 1952) (quotations and citations omitted) (“An
essentia eement [of equitable estoppel] is the entire good faith and innocence of the party imposed on.”);
W.E. Richmond & Co. v. Sec. Nat’l. Bank, 64 SW.2d 863, 872 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1933). Here, Lee
does not deny recelving FHB’ s monthly statements, whichafforded hmknowledge of the true facts. See
Scottsbluff Nat’l. Bank, 54 N.W.2d at 402 (noting “no estoppel canarisewheredl the partiesinterested
have equal knowledge of the facts, or where the party setting up the estoppel is chargeable withnotice of
thefacts, or isequdly negligent or at fault.”) (citations omitted and quotation marks omitted); Yancey Bros.
Co. v. Denhco, Inc., 134 S.E.2d 828, 830 (Ga. Ct. App. 1964) (“[A]nestoppel of this nature cannot arise
wherebothpartieshave equal knowledge or means of obtaining knowledge of the facts dleged to condtitute
anestoppd.”) (citations omitted). Moreimportantly, Leeisaso not arguing that proper examination of the
monthly statements, conducted by a prudent businessman such as himsdlf, was insufficient to provide him
notice of the returned direct debits. Lee’'s monthly bank statements from FHB informed him that certain
direct debits were being returned as marked by “Return Item Non-Encl.” At the bare minimum, Leg's
disregard of the FHB statementsillugtrates that he did not “exercise. . . reasonable diligence to learn the
truth.” See Scottsbluff Nat’l. Bank, 54 N.W.2d at 402 (citations omitted).
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[27]  Accordingly, wehold that the trial court did not err with respect to the equitable estoppel defense
issue.

B. Compliancewith the PMPA
[28] Leearguesthat thetrid court erred inholding that Mobil’ stermination of the Franchise Agreement
and the notice of terminationcomplied withthe provisons of the PMPA. The PMPA, 15 U.S.C. 88 2801
et seq., “was enacted by Congress in 1978 to establish ‘minimum Federd standards governing the
terminationand nonrenewal of franchise rdationshipsfor the sde of motor fud by the franchiser or supplier
of suchfud.”” Clinkscalesv. Chevron U.SA,, Inc., 831 F.2d 1565, 1566 (11th Cir. 1987) (quoting S.
Rep. No. 95-731, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 1, reprinted in 1978 U.S.C. C.A.N. 873). The Act reflects
Congress concernwith* protecting franchisees, who generdly have inferior bargaining power whendedling
withfranchisors, fromunfar terminationor nonrenewal of ther franchises” Carter v. Exxon Co., U.SA,,
177 F.3d 197, 201 (3rd Cir. 1999) (citing S. Rer. No. 95-731, at 17-19, (1978), reprinted in 1978
U.S.C.C.A.N. 873, 875-77); see Pro Sales, Inc. v. Texaco, U.SA., 792 F.2d 1394, 1399 (9th Cir.
1986) (citing S.Rep. No. 95-731, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 15, reprintedin 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 873, 874).
In order to prevent unlawful terminations or non-renewa of franchise agreements, the PMPA “impoges]
two requirements on franchisors. Firg, the franchisor may terminate afranchise only for certain statutorily
prescribed grounds. Second, the franchisee must be given adequate notice of the franchisor’s intent to
terminate the franchise.” Sun Refining & Mktg. Co. v. Rago, 741 F.2d 670, 672 (3rd Cir. 1984)
(citations omitted); see Hinkleman v. Shell Oil Co., 962 F.2d 372, 376 (4th Cir. 1992) (citations
omitted).
[29] Leearguesthat summary judgment was ingppropriate because materia factsareindisputeonthe
issue of whether Mobil complied with the PMPA’s provisions. We disagree. The PMPA delineates
specific grounds for termination and non-renewa of a franchise agreement. In particular, Title15U.S.C.
§ 2802(b)(2) provides:

For purposes of this subsection, the following are grounds for termination or nonrenewal
of afranchise rdaionship:

(A) A failure by the franchisee to comply with any provision of the
franchise, which provision is both reasonable and of material
significance to the franchise relationship, if the franchisor first
acquired actual or constructive knowledge of such failure —
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0] not more than 120 days prior to the date on which
natification of termination or nonrenewd is given, if
r)(?tification iS given pursuant to section 2804(a) of this
title; or

(i) not more than 60 days prior to the date on which
notification of termination or nonrenewd is given, if less
than 90 days notification is given pursuant to section
2804(b)(2) of thistitle.

(B)  Afailurebythefranchisee to exert good faith effortsto carry out the
provisions of the franchise, if

0] the franchiseewas apprised by the franchisor inwriting of
suchfailure and wasafforded areasonable opportunity to
exert good faith efforts to carry out such provisons, and

(i) such fallure theregfter continued within the period which
began not morethan 180 days before the date natification
of termination or nonrenewad was given pursuant to
section 2804 of thistitle.

(C)  Theoccurrenceof an event which isrelevant to the franchise rdaionship
and asaresult of which termination of the franchise or nonrenewa of the
franchise relationship is reasonabl e, if such event occurs during the period
of the franchise is In effect and the franchisor first acquired actud or
congtructive knowledge of such occurrence—

0] not more than 120 days prior to the date on which
natification of termination or nonrenewd is given, if
r_lcl)tificetion is given pursuant to section 2804(a) of this
title; or

(i) not more than 60 days prior to the date on which
natification of termination or nonrenewd is given, if less
than 90 days notification is given pursuant to section
2804(b)(2) of thistitle.

15 U.S.C. § 2802(b)(2)(A)-(C) (2002)(emphasis added).
(30) Mohil’s December 29th Notice of Termination provided asfollows:

Your falure to comply with the above-mentioned provisions provides grounds for

termination of our Franchise Agreement, franchise and franchise relationship under the
Petroleum Marketing Practices Act (PMPA). Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 2802(b)(2)(A) and
2802(b)(2)(B), Mohil hereby terminatesits Franchise Agreement, franchiseand franchise
r2e(l) z(a)t(i)onshi p withyoudong withdl rel ated supplementa agreements, effective January 16,

Appdlant’s Excerpts of Record, val. |, pp. 41-42 (Manlgpaz' Ltr.). The termination of the franchise
agreement was expresdy based on subsections (A) and (B) of section 2802(b)(2). We turn to whether
Mobil complied with each of these provisons.
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1. Section 2802(b)(2)(A)
[31] Tojudifyterminationof afranchise agreement, section 2802(b)(2)(A) requiresthat thefranchisee's
breach must be a failure to comply with a provison of the franchise that is reasonable and materialy
sgnificant to the franchise relationship. 15 U.S.C. § 2802(b)(2)(A) (2002). This section then givestwo
different iming requirementsfor anotice of termination: (1) anotice of terminationmust be furnished within
120 days of the franchisor acquiring actud or congtructive notice of the franchisee sfallure, if the noticeis
givennot lessthan ninety days prior to the terminationdate (pursuant to Title 15 U.S.C. § 2804(Q)); or (2)
anotice of termination must be furnished within Sixty days of the franchisor acquiring actual or congtructive
notice of the franchisee’ sfailure, under circumstancesinwhich it would unreasonable for the franchisor to
provide notice not less than 90 days prior to the termination date (pursuant to Title 15 U.S.C. §
2804(b)(1)). 15 U.S.C. § 2802(b)(2)(A) (2002).
[32] Inthis case, Mobil furnished the December 29th Notice of Termination, which stated that the
franchise would be terminated on January 16, 2000. Leearguesthat the effective date of terminationwas
not properly indicated because the December 29th Notice of Termination and the Supplemental Notice
of Termination provided four dates.
[33] A notice termingating a franchise agreement must contain “the date on which such termingtion or
nonrenewd takes effect.” 15 U.S.C. 8§ 2804(c)(3)(B) (2002). The Supplemental Notice of Termination
sent by Mobil to Lee on July 20, 2000 was apparently amed at correcting any potential deficiencies in
complying withthe timing requirementsfor providing notice under the PMPA. However, the supplementa
notice offers Mobil no support. The December 29, 1999 notice of termination expressly specified a
termination date: “Mobil hereby terminates its Franchise Agreement, franchise and franchise rdaionship
withyoudongwithdl rel ated supplemental agreements, effective January 16, 2000.” Appdlant’ sExcerpts
of Record, val. I, p. 42 (Notice of Termination). On January 16th, Lee met Manlapaz at the service station
and “voluntarily turned over the Steto Mobil.” Appelant’sExcerptsof Record, val. I1, p. 245 (Manlapaz’
Decl.). Thus, there is no genuine issue of materia fact that the December 29th Notice of Termination
provided the January 16, 2000 date of termination, and on that date Mobil took possessionof the service

gation and terminated the Franchise Agreement.
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[34] Without dispute, the December 29thNoticeof Terminationgavelessthan ninety days notice before
the terminationdate. Thus, our inquiry is narrowed to whether thereis agenuineissue of materid fact that:
(1) the breach was reasonable and of materid significance to the franchise relationship, and (2) Mobil
complied with section 2804(b)(2).
a. Lee' sBreach of the Franchise Agreement

[35] The December 29th Notice of Termination was based on Lee'sviolation of Articles|(C), 11(C),
and IV(A) of the franchise agreement. Appellant’s Excerpts of Record, vol. I, p. 41 (Notice of
Termindtion). Article I(C) required Lee to comply with persond performance obligations and
commitments. Appdlant’s Excerptsof Record, val. I, p. 4 (Franchise Agreement). Articlell(C) required
L ee to make payment by direct debit or other payment method specified by Mobil. Appdlant’s Excerpts
of Record, vdl. I, p. 6 (Franchise Agreement). Artide IV(A) governed Lee's use of the marketing
premises. Appellant’s Excerpts of Record, val. I, p. 9 (Franchise Agreement).
[36] Leearguesthat the notice of termination did not mention Leg s failure to make payments for the
fud ddlivered to him, thus he did not have information to determine whether the terminationcomplied with
the PMPA. Appdlant’sOpening Brief p. 31. Hisargument isunconvincing. In addition to Sating that Lee
violated Artide 11(C), requiring payment of amounts due as specified by Mohil, the December 29th Notice
of Termingtion Stated:

In previous warning notices, we outlined your violations and requested that you carry out

the above-mentioned provisons of your franchise. Despite those opportunitiesto cure,

however, you have continued to violate those provisions. 'Y our account remains past due

in the sum of $226,101.68.
Appdlant’ sExcerptsof Record, val. I, p. 41 (Notice of Termination). Thisnoticeclearly referredtoLee’s
failure to pay amounts past due. Lee admitted that he learned of the unpaid debits on October 4, 1999,
made payments toward his debt, and engaged in negotiations over payment proposas with Mohil
throughout the months of October, November and December of 1999 and up to January 13, 2000.
Appdlant’ sExcerpts of Record, val. |, pp. 56-62 (Lee's Decl.). Lee does not dispute that Mobil made
repeated demands for payment in his meatings with Mobil officials on October 4, November 4, and
November 8, 1999. Appellant’s Excerpt of Record, pp. 58-60 (Lee Decl. 119-11, 13). Additionaly,
L ee does not dispute that Mobil demanded payment by letters of November 8, November 26, December
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1, December 15, and December 22, 1999. Appellant’s Excerpts of Record, val. I1, pp. 355, 356, 360,
363, 368 (Manlapaz Decl.).
[37] The December 29th Notice of Termination and the undisputed record show that Lee had ample
knowledge of hisfallure to pay Mobil and his violation of Article 11(C) of the Franchise Agreement. The
andyss turns to whether the breach was reasonable and of materia Sgnificance to the franchise
relaionship.
[38]  Under the PMPA:

an event which isrdevant to the franchiserdaionship and as aresult of which termination

of the franchise or nonrenewa of the franchise relaionship is reasonable includes events

such as [the] failure by the franchisee to pay to the franchisor in a timely manner

when due all sumsto which the franchisor islegally entitled.
15 U.S.C. § 2802(c)(8) (emphasis added internd, quotation marks omitted). Thus, Lee's undisputed
falureto pay dl sumsto which Mobil was entitled was a materia breach of the Franchise Agreement and
Mobil’s termination of the Franchise Agreement was judified under the PMPA. The next question is
whether Mobil complied with the timing requirements of the PMPA.

b. Compliance with sections 2802(b)(2)(A)(ii) and 2804(b)(1)

[39] Asnotedabove, because Mohil’ s December 29th Notice of Terminationgavelessthanninety days
notice prior to the date of termination, section 2802(b)(2)(A)(ii) applies. This section provides that the
franchisor must have

firg acquired actua or condructive knowledge of [the franchisee's] . . . falure . . . not

more than 60 days prior to the date on which notificationof termination or nonrenewd is

given, if lessthan 90 days notification is given pursuant to section 2804(b)(1) of thistitle,
15 U.S.C. § 2802(b)(2)(A)(ii) (2002). Section 2804(b)(1) is aso applicable under the present
circumstances and it provides:.

In circumstances in which it would not be reasonable for the franchisor to furnish

natification, not less than 90 days prior to the date on which termination or nonrenewa

takes effect, asrequired by subsection ﬁ)(z of thissection. . . suchfranchisor shdl furnish

natification to the franchisee affected thereby on the earliest date on which furnishing of

such natification is reasonably practicable] ]
15 U.S.C. § 2804(b)(1) (2002). The andyss requires a determination of whether: (1) Mobil acquired
actua or congructive notice of Leg sfailure to pay within Sxty days prior to the December 29th Notice

of Termination, and (2) it would have been unreasonable for Mobil to provide ninety days notice.
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[40] Lee states that Mobil acquired actua or congructive notice of the first unpaid debit asearly as
October of 1998 asindicated inMobil’ sFind Warning letter of December 15, 1999. Appellant’ sOpening
Brief p. 40. Thus, Leearguesthat morethan ayear lapsed from the date Mobil’ sdebitswerefirs returned
to the date of the December 29th Notice of Termingtion, inviolationof the Sixty day actud or condructive
knowledge requirement of section2802(b)(2)(A)(ii). We disagree. The same Mobil letter that Lee uses
to support this argumernt aso shows a series of returned debits extending to June 22, 1999. See
Appdlant’s Excerpts of Record, val. II, pp. 364, 316 (Manlapaz Decl). Each of these returned debits
condtituted anew breach. See Geibv. Amoco Oil Co., 29 F.3d 1050, 1056 (6thCir. 1994). Moreover,
it is undisputed that Mobil began demanding payment and commenced negotiations for payment plansin
October of 1999.

[41] The case of California Petroleum Distrib. v. Chevron U.SA., Inc., 589 F.Supp. 282 (E.D.
N.Y. 1984), providesagtuationvery similar to the one at bar. Inthat case, Cdifornia Petroleum became
indebted to Chevron for failing to pay for fud products and Chevron spent four months attempting to
negotiate payment to preserve the franchise agreement. 1d. at 284-85. Chevron terminated the franchise
agreement and gave sixteen days notice. 1d. at 285. Because Chevron's notice of termination provided
less than ninety days notice, the issue was whether Chevron had actual or constructive knowledge of
Cdifornia Petroleum’ s breach withinsixty days prior to the issuance of the notice of termination. 1d. at 287.
The court held that Cdifornia Petroleum’ s failure to pay amounts past due was an ongoing default and that
each of Chevron’ sunsuccessful attempts to negotiate payment gave riseto anew event of noncompliance.
Id. at 288. The court found that the last meeting between Chevron and Cdifornia Petroleum, wherein the
franchisee could neither give nor guarantee payment, was a new default and Chevron’'s notice of
termination, issued within three weeks of that megting, was within the sixty day actua or constructive
knowledge requirement. 1d.

[42] We agree in principle with California Petroleun?® and find that Lee's failure to commence
payments on December 28, 1999, pursuant to Mobil’s last demand letter of December 22, 1999,

s Although California Petroleum is a decision of a federal district court, both Lee and Mobil argued the

applicability of California Petroleum in their briefs. Moreover, the parties did not offer, and this court could not find,
appellate case law involving the issues and factual circumstances presented in the instant case.
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congtituted a new breach of the franchise agreement. Therefore, we hold that Mobil’s December 29th
Notice of Termination was in compliancewiththe sixty day actua or congtructive knowledge requirement
of Title 15 U.S.C. § 2802(b)(2)(A)(ii).
[43] Leenext argues that the eighteen days notice given by Mobil was not reasonable under section
2804(b)(1). Wedisagree. Mobil began negotiationswith Leein October of 1999. A seriesof proposdls,
counter-proposal's and demandsfor payment were made through December of 1999. Thus, from October
of 1999 through January 16, 2000, L ee had morethanthree months to attempt to make paymentsor arrive
at a payment planto Mobil’s satisfaction. Moreover, athough the last demand letter gave Lee until
December 28, 1999 to begin payments, the December 29th Notice of Termination effectively gave Lee
elghteen additiond days to attempt to cure his deficiencies. Indeed, the record shows that L ee attempted
to save the franchiseon January 13 and 14, 2000. Appellant’ sExcerptsof Record, val. I, pp. 67-68 (Lee
Decl.). Under these circumstances, we find that Mobil’s eighteen-day notice of termination was
reasonable. See California Petroleum, 589 F.Supp at 289 (finding that a sixteen-day notice of
termination was reasonable after the franchisor spent four months attempting to negotiate payment); cf.
Zipper v. Sun Co., 947 F.Supp. 62, 69 (E.D. N.Y. 1996) (finding that it would have been reasonable for
the franchisor to give ninety days notice, “or at least some notice which was not effective
immediately” (emphasis added, internd quotation marks omitted).
[44] We had that Mobil’s December 29th Notice of Termination was proper under 15 U.S.C. 8§
2802(b)(2)(A) and the timing requirements of sections 2802(b)(2)(A)(ii) and 2804(b)(2).

2. Section 2802(b)(2)(B)
[45] Because we hold that termination of the Franchise Agreement was proper under section
2802(b)(2)(A), we need not reach the issue of whether it was also proper under section 2802(b)(2)(B).
See Clinkscales, 831 F.2d at 1571 (dtating that a franchisor need prove “only one of the grounds for
termination under the PMPA.").

3. Section 2801(13)(B)
[46] Lee'sfind argument is that his failure to pay Mobil resulted from acts which were beyond his
control. Specificaly, Lee citesto the PMPA definitionof “falure’ which provides. “ Theterm failure does
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not include . . . any falure for a cause beyond the reasonable control of the franchisee” 15 U.S.C. 8
2801(13)(B) (2002). Leearguesthat Mohil’snegligencein furnishing incorrect information on hismonthly
account statements was beyond his control and caused his nonpayment. We disagree.

[47]  Whilebetter accounting practicesmight have enabled Mobil todiscover Lee' sunpaid debtssooner,
Lee dso had an affirmative duty to pay any amounts owed to Mobil under Article 11(C) of the Franchise
Agreement or risk terminationunder Title 15 U.S.C. 88 2802(b)(2) and 2802(c)(8). Aswe noted above,
L ee does not dispute receiving the FHB monthly statements of his account which afforded him knowledge
of thefacts. Moreover, and as dso found above, Lee s disregard of the FHB statements amounted to a
falure to exercise reasonable diligence. Thus, Leg's failure to make payments was not beyond his

reasonable control and section 2801(13)(B) is not available to Lee as a defense.

V.
[48] We find tha there are no genuine issues of materid fact that Lee breached the Franchise
Agreement, that his breach was reasonable and of materid sgnificance to the franchise relationship, and
that Mobil’s December 29th Notice of Termination complied with the provisons of the PMPA. Wehold
that Mobil is entitled to summary judgment as ameatter of law on theseissues. The summary judgment of
thetrid court ishereby AFFIRMED.



